



EUROPEAN CENTRAL BANK

WORKING PAPER SERIES NO. 334 / APRIL 2004

EUROSYSTEM INFLATION PERSISTENCE NETWORK

IS INFLATION PERSISTENCE INTRINSIC IN INDUSTRIAL ECONOMIES?

by Andrew T. Levin and Jeremy M. Piger



WORKING PAPER SERIES

NO. 334 / APRIL 2004

EUROSYSTEM INFLATION PERSISTENCE NETWORK

IS INFLATION PERSISTENCE INTRINSIC IN INDUSTRIAL ECONOMIES?'

> by Andrew T. Levin² and Jeremy M. Piger³

This paper can be downloaded without charge from http://www.ecb.int or from the Social Science Research Network electronic library at http://ssrn.com/abstract_id=532902.

100 EURO

In 2004 all publications will carry a motif taken from the €100 banknote.





We appreciate helpful comments from Nicoletta Batini, Luca Benati, Ben Bernanke, Todd Clark, Tim Cogley, Günter Coenen, Chris Erceg, Jordi Gali, Luca Guerrieri, Lutz Kilian, Tom King, Jesper Lindé, Ming Lo, Mike McCracken, Ed Nelson, Jeremy Rudd, Jim Stock, Mark Watson, Karl Whelan, Volker Wieland, Tony Yates, and seminar participants at the Bank of England, Bank of France, European Central Bank, Federal Reserve Banks of Kansas City and St. Louis, Midwest Macroeconomics Conference, University of Georgia, University of Kentucky, University of Missouri, and University of Virginia. We are also grateful to Chang-Jin Kim for providing Gauss code to perform the marginal likelihood calculations. Maura McCarthy and Ryan Michaels provided excellent research assistance. The views expressed in this paper are solely the responsibility of the authors, and should not be interpreted as reflecting the views of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, the Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis, or of any other person associated with the Federal Reserve System, or the European Central Bank.
 Federal Reserve Board, Stop 70, Washington, DC 20551 USA, phone 202-452-3541; fax 202-452-2301; email andrew.levin@frb.gov.
 Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis, P.O. Box 442, St. Louis, MO 63166 USA, phone 314-444-8718; fax 314-444-8713; email piger@gstls.frb.org

The Eurosystem Inflation Persistence Network

This paper reflects research conducted within the Inflation Persistence Network (IPN), a team of Eurosystem economists undertaking joint research on inflation persistence in the euro area and in its member countries. The research of the IPN combines theoretical and empirical analyses using three data sources: individual consumer and producer prices; surveys on firms' price-setting practices; aggregated sectoral, national and area-wide price indices. Patterns, causes and policy implications of inflation persistence are addressed.

The IPN is chaired by Ignazio Angeloni; Jordi Galí (CREI, Universitat Pompeu Fabra) and Andrew Levin (Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System) act as external consultants and Michael Ehrmann as Secretary.

The refereeing process is co-ordinated by a team composed of Vítor Gaspar (Chairman), Silvia Fabiani, Carsten Folkertsma, Jordi Galí, Andrew Levin, and Philip Vermeulen. The paper is released in order to make the results of IPN research generally available, in preliminary form, to encourage comments and suggestions prior to final publication. The views expressed in the paper are the author's own and do not necessarily reflect those of the Eurosystem.

© European Central Bank, 2004

Address Kaiserstrasse 29 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Postal address Postfach 16 03 19 60066 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Telephone +49 69 1344 0

Internet http://www.ecb.int

Fax +49 69 1344 6000

Telex 411 144 ecb d

All rights reserved.

Reproduction for educational and noncommercial purposes is permitted provided that the source is acknowledged.

The views expressed in this paper do not necessarily reflect those of the European Central Bank.

The statement of purpose for the ECB Working Paper Series is available from the ECB website, http://www.ecb.int.

ISSN 1561-0810 (print) ISSN 1725-2806 (online)

CONTENTS

Ab	stract	4					
No	n-technical summary	5					
1.	Introduction	6					
2.	Naïve estimates of persistence	9					
3.	Methods for identifying structural breaks	18					
	3.1 General specification	18					
	3.2 Classical hypothesis tests	19					
	3.3 Bayesian model comparison						
4.	Evidence of structural breaks	23					
	5. Reconsidering the degree of persistence	32					
	5.1 Classical estimates	32					
	5.2 Bayesian estimates	35					
6.	Breaks in AR parameters	38					
7.	Conclusion	43					
References							
Appendices							
European Central Bank working paper series 5							

2

Abstract

We apply both classical and Bayesian econometric methods to characterize the dynamic behavior of inflation for twelve industrial countries over the period 1984-2003, using four different price indices for each country. In particular, we estimate a univariate autoregressive (AR) model for each series, and consider the possibility of a structural break at an unknown date. For many of these countries, we find strong evidence for a break in the intercept of the AR equation in the late 1980s or early 1990s. Allowing for a break in intercept, the inflation measures generally exhibit relatively low inflation persistence. Evidently, high inflation persistence is *not* an inherent characteristic of industrial economies.

JEL Classification: C11, C22, E31

Keywords: Inflation dynamics, Bayesian econometrics, largest autoregressive root.

Non-Technical Summary

A large econometric literature has found that inflation in most industrial economies exhibits very high persistence, approaching that of a random walk. In this paper, we consider the extent to this finding may reflect the influence of occasional shifts in the central bank's inflation objective, rather than the intrinsic persistence of inflation in response to other macroeconomic shocks. For this purpose, we apply a battery of several different econometric methods to estimate time-series models of inflation for twelve industrial countries over the period 1984-2003. To ensure the robustness of our results, we also consider four different price indices for each country: the consumer price index (CPI), the core CPI (excluding food and energy), the price deflator for gross domestic product, and the price deflator for personal consumption expenditures.

For many of the countries in our sample, we find strong evidence for a structural break in the intercept of the time-series equation, corresponding to a break in mean inflation of the sort that one would associate with a shift in the central bank's inflation objective. Conditional on the break in intercept, the process for inflation appears to be reasonably stable over the entire sample period; that is, we find little evidence of structural breaks in the dynamic parameters of each time-series model.

Once we allow for a break in mean, many of the inflation series exhibit very little persistence. For nearly all of the inflation series for seven countries, the time-series model indicates that fluctuations in inflation are relatively short-lived, and that inflation returns to its mean level within a few quarters. These results indicate that high inflation persistence is *not* an inherent characteristic of industrial economies.

Working Paper Series No. 334 April 2004

1. Introduction

A large econometric literature has found that postwar U.S. inflation exhibits very high persistence, approaching that of a random-walk process.¹ Given similar evidence for other OECD countries, many macroeconomists have concluded that high inflation persistence is a "stylized fact" and have proposed a number of different microeconomic interpretations.² However, an alternative viewpoint is that the degree of inflation persistence is not an inherent structural characteristic of industrial economies, but rather varies with the stability and transparency of the monetary policy regime.³

In this paper, we utilize both classical and Bayesian econometric methods to characterize the behavior of inflation dynamics for twelve industrial countries: Australia, Canada, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Netherlands, New Zealand, Sweden, Switzerland, the United Kingdom, and the United States. To ensure that our results are not specific to a particular measure of inflation, we analyze the properties of four different price indices: the GDP price deflator, the personal consumption expenditure (PCE) price deflator, the consumer price index (CPI), and the core CPI. We focus our analysis on the sample 1984-2003, the time period for which the degree of inflation persistence is most disputed. Specifically, there is widespread agreement that inflation persistence was very high over the period extending from 1965 to the disinflation of the

¹ See Nelson and Plosser (1982) and Fuhrer and Moore (1995). For more recent analysis, see Stock (2001) and Pivetta and Reis (2001).

² For further discussion, see Nelson (1998) and Clarida et al. (1999). In developing microeconomic foundations for high inflation persistence, some authors assume that private agents face information-processing constraints; cf. Roberts (1998), Ball (2000), Ireland (2000), Mankiw and Reis (2001), Sims (2001), Woodford (2001), Steinsson (2003). An alternative approach assumes that high inflation persistence results from the structure of nominal contracts; cf. Buiter and Jewitt (1989), Fuhrer and Moore (1995), Fuhrer (2000), Calvo et al. (2001), Christiano et al. (2001). Other authors generate inflation persistence through the data generating process for the structural shocks hitting the economy; cf. Rotemberg and Woodford (1997), Dittmar, Gavin and Kydland (2001), Ireland (2003).

early 1980s. However, there is substantial debate regarding whether inflation persistence continued to be high since the early 1980s, or has declined.⁴

For many of the countries we consider, substantial shifts in monetary policy have occurred over the past two decades, particularly the widespread adoption of explicit inflation targets.⁵ Thus, a key aspect of our approach is to allow for the possibility of a structural break in the inflation process for each country, since a failure to account for such breaks could yield spuriously high estimates of the degree of persistence (cf. Perron 1990). The evidence from both classical hypothesis tests and Bayesian model comparisons suggests that for many of the countries we consider, an autoregressive process fit to inflation contains a structural break in intercept at some point in the late 1980s or early 1990s, while there is little evidence of a break in any of the AR coefficients.⁶

Based on this evidence, we then proceed to evaluate persistence in each inflation series within the context of a model that allows for structural breaks. As in Andrews and Chen (1994), we measure the degree of persistence of the process in terms of the sum of the AR coefficients, ρ (henceforth referred to as the "persistence parameter").⁷ We first approach this question from a classical perspective, conditioning on a structural break in the intercept in those cases for which hypothesis tests for structural breaks rejected at the 5% level. We obtain median unbiased estimates and confidence intervals for the persistence parameter using the Hansen (1999) "grid bootstrap" procedure. For seven countries, Australia, Canada, Italy, New Zealand, Sweden, the

⁴ Focusing on post-1984 data also allows us to avoid the effects of wage and price controls, which were common in many industrial countries during the 1970s.

⁵ See Bernanke et al. (1999), Johnson (2002), Mishkin and Schmidt-Hebbel (2002).

⁶ Our finding of a structural break in the mean inflation rate is consistent with Rapach and Wohar (2002) who find evidence of multiple structural breaks in the mean of the real interest rate and inflation rate of 13 industrialized countries over the past 40 years.

 $^{^{7}}$ As noted by Andrews and Chen (1994), ρ is monotonically related to the cumulative impulse response of the series and to its spectral density at frequency zero, and is more informative than the largest AR root as a measure of overall persistence.

United Kingdom and the Untied States, we find that the median-unbiased estimate of ρ is less than 0.7 and that the null hypothesis of a unit root can be rejected at the 95 percent confidence level for nearly all of the inflation series in these countries.⁸

We then take a Bayesian perspective, which enables us to compute persistence estimates that account for uncertainty regarding the presence and timing of the structural break. These estimates reveal even less inflation persistence than was suggested by the results from the classical estimation. For example, the 95th percentile of the posterior distribution is below unity for all but two of the 48 inflation series.

These results indicate that high inflation persistence is *not* an inherent characteristic of industrial economies. This conclusion is consistent with a growing literature documenting time-variation in the level of U.S. inflation persistence. Barsky (1987) finds that U.S. inflation persistence was very high from 1960-1979, but was much lower from 1947-1959. Evans and Wachtel (1993) estimate a Markov-switching model for U.S. inflation and find that the series was generated by a low-persistence regime ($\rho = 0.58$) during 1953-67 and 1983-93, but was generated by a random-walk process ($\rho = 1$) during the period 1968-82.⁹ Similarly, Brainard and Perry (2000), Taylor (2000), and Kim et al. (2001) find evidence that U.S. inflation persistence during the Volcker-Greenspan era has been substantially lower than during the previous two decades, while Cogley and Sargent (2001,2003) conclude that U.S. inflation persistence reached a postwar peak around 1979-80. International evidence includes Ravenna

⁸ In related work we use a rolling regression framework to investigate inflation persistence for the U.S. data and show that the results are completely consistent with low persistence and an intercept shift in the early 1990s (cf. Levin and Piger (2003)). These results are reconciled with those of Stock (2001) and Pivetta and Reis (2001), who reach the opposite conclusion regarding U.S. inflation persistence using similar techniques, by noting that the rolling windows used by these authors do not exclude the early 1990s intercept shift by the end of their sample.

⁹ These shifts in the persistence of U.S. inflation correspond reasonably well to shifts in the monetary policy regime: Romer and Romer (2002) emphasize the extent to which U.S. monetary policy was successful in stabilizing inflation during the 1950s, while Clarida et al. (2000) consider the period after 1965 and find evidence for a shift in monetary policy at the beginning of the Volcker-Greenspan era.

(2000), who documents a large post-1990 drop in Canadian inflation persistence; Batini (2002), who finds relatively little evidence of shifts in inflation persistence in Euro area countries; and Benati (2002), who finds that U.K. and U.S. inflation had no persistence during the metallic-standard era (prior to 1914), maximum persistence during the 1970s, and markedly lower persistence during the past decade.

The remainder of this paper is organized as follows. Section 2 considers naïve estimates of inflation persistence obtained without any consideration of structural breaks. Section 3 lays out the techniques used to evaluate the evidence for structural breaks in the inflation data, while Section 4 presents the results obtained from these techniques. Section 5 reconsiders the degree of inflation persistence, taking into account potential structural breaks. Section 6 finds little evidence of structural breaks in the persistence parameter or the other AR coefficients. Finally, section 7 summarizes our conclusions and outlines several issues for further research.

2. Naïve Estimates of Persistence

Figure 1 depicts the four inflation series for each country over the sample period 1984 through 2003; the precise sample period for each series is indicated in Appendix Table A1.¹⁰ The core CPI inflation measures exclude both food and energy prices for all countries except Australia, for which only food prices are excluded.

Broadly speaking, Figure 1 indicates that all four inflation series tend to move roughly in parallel. Of course, there are some exceptions; for example, the sudden drop in global oil prices in 1986 typically has a much larger impact on consumer inflation than on GDP price inflation.

¹⁰ All data was collected from the OECD Statistical Compendium. Data availability determined the terminal date of the sample for each inflation series, which differs across countries and inflation measures. It should be noted that the German series do not include any data for 1991, since these series have been constructed by splicing together post-1992 data for unified Germany with pre-1991 data for West Germany.

We have also identified a few specific cases in which exogenous events, such as shifts in VAT or other sales tax rates, resulted in large transitory fluctuations in the inflation series. The dates of these events are listed in Appendix Table A2. As shown by Franses and Haldrup (1994), such outliers can induce substantial downward bias in the estimated degree of persistence. Thus, we replace these outliers with interpolated values (the median of the six adjacent observations that were not themselves outlier observations).

If one ignores the possibility of structural breaks, then Figure 1 suggests that most of these countries have a fairly high degree of inflation persistence. For example, Australian GDP price inflation has a mean value of about 3.6 percent over the period 1984-2003, but the series is consistently higher than this value prior to 1991 and then consistently falls below the mean during the later years of the sample. Similar patterns are apparent for Canada, New Zealand, Sweden, the United Kingdom, and the United States: in each case, inflation largely remains above its sample mean during the 1980s and thereafter tends to remain below the mean.

To formalize these impressions, we now consider a univariate AR process for each inflation series:

$$\pi_t = \mu + \sum_{j=1}^K \alpha_j \pi_{t-j} + \varepsilon_t \tag{1}$$

where ε_t is a serially uncorrelated but possibly heteroscedastic random error term. As noted above, Andrews and Chen (1994) advocate the sum of AR coefficients, $\rho \equiv \sum \alpha_j$, as the best scalar measure of persistence. An alternative measure of persistence is given by the largest AR

root γ , that is, the largest root of the characteristic equation $\lambda^{K} - \sum_{j=1}^{K} \alpha_{j} \lambda^{K-j} = 0$.

Working Paper Series No. 334





ECB Working Paper Series No. 334 April 2004



Figure 1: Inflation Rates (contd.)

ECB Working Paper Series No. 334 April 2004



Figure 1: Inflation Rates (contd.)

To measure persistence in terms of the sum of AR coefficients, it is useful to consider the following equivalent expression:

$$\pi_t = \mu + \rho \pi_{t-1} + \sum_{j=1}^{K-1} \phi_j \Delta \pi_{t-j} + \varepsilon_t$$
(2)

In this formulation, the persistence parameter $\rho \equiv \sum \alpha_j$, while the higher-order dynamic parameters ϕ_j are simple transformations of the AR coefficients in equation (1); e.g., $\phi_{K-1} = -\alpha_K$. Note that $\rho = 1$ if the data-generating process has a unit root, whereas $|\rho| < 1$ if the *dgp* is stationary.

To obtain an estimate of ρ , an AR lag order *K* must be chosen for each inflation series. For this purpose, we utilize AIC, the information criterion proposed by Akaike (1973), with a maximum lag order of *K* = 4 considered. The lag order chosen for each series is reported in Appendix Table A3. While not reported here, we have found that using SIC (the criterion proposed by Schwarz 1978) does not alter any of the conclusions reached in this paper.

It is well known that the least-squares estimator of the persistence parameter ρ , denoted $\hat{\rho}$, is biased downward, particularly as ρ approaches unity. Further, confidence intervals constructed based on an asymptotic normal distribution for $\hat{\rho}$ do not have correct coverage. To remedy these deficiencies with the standard estimation techniques, we construct confidence intervals using the "grid bootstrap" procedure of Hansen (1999), which simulates the sampling distribution of the t-statistic $t = \frac{\hat{\rho} - \rho}{se(\hat{\rho})}$ over a grid of possible true values for ρ in order to construct confidence intervals with correct coverage. In the bootstrap procedure we allow for heteroscedasticity by constructing $se(\hat{\rho})$ using the White (1980) heteroscedasticity-

consistent standard error estimator and scaling each of the parametrically generated bootstrap

residuals by the actual residual obtained from least-squares estimation of equation (2) conditional on each value of ρ in the grid. This is important as many of the inflation series considered here are much less volatile over the second half of the sample period.

The results broadly support the view that high inflation persistence is a "stylized fact" of industrialized economies. Table 1 reports percentiles of the bootstrap distribution for ρ , while Figure 2 displays this information graphically. The median-unbiased estimate (namely, the 50th percentile of the distribution) exceeds 0.7 for at least 3 of the 4 inflation measures for every country in the sample, while the 95th percentile exceeds 0.9 for nearly every inflation series considered. Furthermore, this upper bound often exceeds unity, suggesting the null hypothesis of a unit root cannot be rejected at the 5% significance level in many cases. Based on these estimates, a reasonable conclusion would be that high inflation persistence is pervasive across countries and measures of inflation.¹¹

¹¹ Table 1 highlights the importance of considering several alternative inflation measures when evaluating persistence for any particular country. For example, three U.S. inflation measures are consistent with high persistence, whereas total CPI inflation appears much less persistent.

	GDP Price Inflation		I	CPI Inflation		Core CPI Inflation		PCE Price Inflation				
	5	50	95	5	50	95	5	50	95	5	50	95
Australia	0.73	1.00	1.11	0.67	0.82	1.02	0.66	0.87	1.05	0.79	0.94	1.05
Canada	0.31	0.67	1.07	0.48	0.72	0.95	0.75	0.90	1.06	0.52	0.76	0.98
France	0.65	0.78	0.94	0.66	0.77	0.88	0.85	0.91	0.99	0.68	0.79	0.90
Germany	0.52	0.74	0.96	0.65	0.87	1.06	0.70	0.87	1.05	0.45	0.76	1.07
Italy	0.57	0.78	0.98	0.79	0.88	0.98	0.81	0.88	0.95	0.66	0.77	0.88
Japan	0.79	1.00	1.10	0.55	0.78	1.04	0.80	0.94	1.03	0.80	0.96	1.07
Netherlands	0.06	1.05	1.19	0.56	0.83	1.06	0.62	0.79	0.96	0.00	0.39	0.75
New Zealand	0.31	0.59	0.86	0.70	0.91	1.06	0.75	0.99	1.07	0.66	0.91	1.07
Sweden	0.49	0.79	1.08	0.71	0.84	0.97	0.81	0.94	1.05	0.58	0.76	0.95
Switzerland	0.82	0.93	1.04	0.75	0.93	1.06	0.83	0.95	1.06	0.88	0.95	1.02
United Kingdom	0.44	0.71	1.06	0.52	0.74	1.02	0.51	0.72	0.95	0.75	1.02	1.12
United States	0.70	0.92	1.07	0.38	0.65	0.91	0.92	1.02	1.09	0.62	0.84	1.05

Table 1: Naïve Estimates of Persistence, Excluding Structural Breaks

Notes: Values shown are the 5th, 50th and 95th percentiles for ρ from the Hansen (1999) grid bootstrap procedure applied to the AR model in equation (2) using the lag order given in Appendix Table A3. The grid search was conducted over a range of four standard deviations above and below the least-squares estimate in increments of 0.01. 1000 bootstrap simulations were performed for each value on the grid.





Notes: The high and low values on the bars and the circle on each bar are the 5th, 95th and 50th percentiles for ρ from the Hansen (1999) grid bootstrap procedure applied to the AR model in equation (2) using the lag order given in Appendix Table A3. The grid search was conducted over a range of four standard deviations above and below the least-squares estimate in increments of 0.01. 1000 bootstrap simulations were performed for each value on the grid. For each country, the bars represent the results for the inflation series in the following order: GDP price inflation, CPI inflation, and PCE price inflation.

3. Methods for Identifying Structural Breaks

As demonstrated by Perron (1990), the degree of persistence of a given time series will be exaggerated if the econometrician fails to recognize the presence of a break in the mean of the process. Thus, before drawing any firm conclusions about inflation persistence from the results in the previous section, it is important to obtain formal econometric evidence about the presence or absence of structural breaks in these series. In this section, we present the classical and Bayesian methods used to evaluate the evidence for structural breaks.

3.1 General Specification

We begin by reformulating equation (2) to allow for a single shift in the intercept:

$$\pi_{t} = \mu_{0} + D_{t} \,\mu_{1} + \rho \pi_{t-1} + \sum_{j=1}^{K-1} \phi_{j} \Delta \pi_{t-j} + \varepsilon_{t}$$
(3)

where the dummy variable D_t equals zero in periods t < s and equals unity in all subsequent periods $t \ge s$. As discussed below, we have also considered the possibility of structural breaks in the AR coefficients, but find little evidence of such breaks. As before, ε_t is a serially uncorrelated but possibly heteroscedastic random error term.

For each inflation series, we consider a structural break without making any assumptions about the specific break date, *s*. If one possessed *a priori* knowledge of the break date, then one could simply estimate equation (2) over the two subsamples and then apply the breakpoint test of Chow (1960). For the data considered here, however, the appropriate break date is not necessarily obvious. During the first half of the 1990s, inflation-targeting regimes were implemented by five countries (Australia, Canada, New Zealand, Sweden, and the United Kingdom), but the timing of any break in the inflation process need not have coincided precisely with the formal adoption date. Furthermore, four other countries (France, Germany, Italy, and the Netherlands) were oriented towards meeting the Maastricht criteria and hence experienced converging inflation rates during the period leading up to European Monetary Union.

3.2 Classical Hypothesis Tests

We test for a break in the intercept at an unknown break date using the Quandt (1960) test statistic, the maximum value of the Chow test statistic obtained from searching over all candidate break dates. The lag order K is set equal to the lag length chosen by the AIC for the model with no structural break (reported in Appendix Table A3).

To obtain asymptotic critical values for this statistic, we use the "fixed-regressor" bootstrap procedure of Hansen (2000). Building on the earlier work of Andrews (1993), the Hansen procedure allows for heteroscedasticity under the null hypothesis, a consideration which is crucial in testing for structural breaks in the data-generating process (cf. Stock 2001; Cogley and Sargent 2003). This procedure also allows for structural change in the marginal distribution of the regressors, a case which is particularly relevant if a unit root is present in the data-generating process. To determine the robustness of these results, we also generate critical values using the bootstrap method of Diebold and Chen (1996), which has been shown to work well in finite samples (cf. Clark 2003).

In testing for structural breaks, we assume that the break did not occur during the initial 15 percent nor the final 15 percent of the sample period; that is, we exclude about ten quarters of data at each end of the sample. For those series for which the break test is significant at the 95 percent confidence level, we also compute the least-squares estimate of the break date.¹²

¹² See Bai (1994, 1997) for the theory of least-squares break date estimation.

3.3 Bayesian Model Comparison

As an alternative perspective to the hypothesis tests, we also investigate the evidence of a structural break in the intercept at an unknown date using a formal Bayesian model comparison. This is performed using the Bayes factor, BF, that is, the ratio of the marginal likelihood associated with equation (3) and the marginal likelihood of equation (2).¹³ Note that, assuming a prior odds ratio of one, BF measures the posterior odds ratio. Thus, a value of BF equal to two indicates that the model with a break in intercept is deemed to be more than twice as likely as the model with no break in intercept.

To calculate the likelihood function necessary for the marginal likelihood calculations the models in equations (2) and (3) need to be more fully specified. First, we must place restrictions on the distribution and variance-covariance matrix of the residuals. We assume that the residual in equation (2) and (3), ε_t , is serially independent and has a Gaussian distribution with mean zero and variance σ_i^2 . We model potential heteroscedasticity in ε_t by allowing for a one time structural break in the variance of the residuals, that is $\sigma_i^2 = \sigma_0^2 (1 - D_t) + \sigma_1^2 (D_t)$. For the model in equation (3), D_t controls the shift in the intercept and in the innovation variance, thus the breaks are constrained to occur at the same time. We must also place some structure on the unobserved dummy variable D_t for construction of the likelihood function. To this end we follow Chib (1998) in assuming that D_t is a discrete latent variable with Markov transition probabilities $Pr(D_{t+1} = 0 | D_t = 0) = q$ and $Pr(D_{t+1} = 1 | D_t = 1) = 1$, where 0 < q < 1. In any period in which the break has not yet occurred (that is, $D_t = 0$), there exists a constant non-zero probability 1 - q that the break will occur in the subsequent period $(D_{t+1} = 1)$. Thus, the

Working Paper Series No. 334 April 2004 expected duration of the number of periods prior to the break is given by E(s) = 1/(1-q). Finally, once the break occurs at a specific date *s*, we have $D_t = 1$ for all $t \ge s$.

We specify fairly diffuse prior distributions for the model parameters. In particular, we assume that the parameter vector { μ_0 , μ_1 , ρ , ϕ_1 , ..., ϕ_{K-1} } has a Gaussian prior distribution with mean { $0, 0, 1, 0, \dots, 0$ } and variance-covariance matrix 3 * I, while the parameters σ_0^2 and σ_1^2 each have an inverted Gamma(1,2) prior distribution and the transition probability parameter q has a Beta(8, 0.05) prior distribution. The lag order K was chosen as the value of K that maximized the marginal likelihood for the model under consideration, with the largest value of K considered equal to 4.

As in Kim and Nelson (1999), we estimate this model using the Gibbs sampler, a Markov-Chain Monte Carlo simulation technique that simulates draws from the joint parameter posterior distribution for the model in question. Through repeated draws from this distribution, the features of the posterior distribution (such as the mean and variance) can be approximated to an arbitrary degree of accuracy.¹⁴ Consistent with the classical tests, we constrain the break date to occur in the middle 70% of the sample. This is achieved by rejecting all draws from the posterior distribution that include break dates in the first or last 15% of the sample.

3.4 Structural Breaks in the Autoregressive Parameters

Using the Bayesian procedures outlined in Section 3.3, we also consider the possibility that a structural break occurs in other parameters as well as in the intercept and innovation

¹³ The marginal likelihood of each model is obtained by computing the integral (over the entire parameter space) of the product of the likelihood function and the prior density function. We follow Chib (1995) in computing the marginal likelihood based on output from the Gibbs-sampling procedure.

¹⁴ For further details on implementing the Gibbs sampler, see Kim and Nelson (1998, 1999).

variance. To do this, we first estimate a model in which a structural break is observed in the persistence parameter, ρ :

$$\pi_{t} = \mu_{0} + D_{t} \,\mu_{1} + \left(\rho_{0} + D_{t} \rho_{1}\right) \pi_{t-1} + \sum_{j=1}^{K-1} \phi_{j} \Delta \pi_{t-j} + \varepsilon_{t} \tag{4}$$

Note that the break in the autoregressive parameters is controlled by the variable D_t , and is thus constrained to occur at the same time as that in the intercept and residual variance. The lag order is determined as described in Section 3.3. The parameter vector { ρ_i , i = 0, 1} is assumed to have a Gaussian prior distribution with mean {1, 1} and variance-covariance matrix 3*I; the other prior distributions remain the same as indicated above.

To evaluate the evidence for a break in persistence, we construct the Bayes factor comparing the model with a single break in the persistence parameter as well as the intercept and innovation variance to the model allowing for a single break in intercept and innovation variance only. Thus, positive values of *BF* favor the model with a break in the persistence parameter.

We then proceed to consider the possibility of structural change in all of the AR parameters, using the following model:

$$\pi_{t} = \mu_{0} + D_{t} \,\mu_{1} + (\rho_{0} + D_{t} \rho_{1})\pi_{t-1} + \sum_{j=1}^{K-1} (\phi_{0\,j} + D_{t} \phi_{1\,j}) \Delta \pi_{t-j} + \varepsilon_{t}$$
(5)

As above, the break in the autoregressive parameters is constrained to occur at the same date as for the intercept and residual variance. The parameter vector { μ_i , ρ_i , ϕ_{i1} , ..., $\phi_{i,K-1}$; i = 0, 1} is assumed to have a Gaussian prior distribution with mean {0, 0, 1, 1, 0.....,0} and variancecovariance matrix 3*I. The other prior distributions remain the same as in Section 3.3. Lag order selection was also performed as described in Section 3.3. We then construct the Bayes factor comparing the model with a single break in all of the parameters (that is, the entire set of AR coefficients as well as the intercept and innovation variance) to the model allowing for a single break in the intercept and innovation variance. Thus, positive values of *BF* favor the model with a break in the AR parameters.

4. Evidence of Structural Breaks

The results from the classical hypothesis tests and Bayesian model comparison described in the previous section are remarkably uniform in revealing structural shifts in inflation around the early 1990s. For each country and inflation series, Table 2 indicates the p-value of the null hypothesis of no structural break in the intercept of the AR model, using the asymptotic critical values generated by the Hansen (2000) procedure. As shown in Appendix Table A4, we obtain virtually identical results using the procedure of Diebold and Chen (1996). Finally, Table 3 records the Bayes factor, *BF*, which summarizes the evidence regarding a break in intercept.

The classical hypothesis tests provide strong evidence of a structural break for seven of the twelve countries in the sample, namely Australia, Canada, Italy, New Zealand, Sweden, the United Kingdom, and the United States – for each of these the null hypothesis of no structural change is rejected at the 5% significance level for at least three of the four inflation measures. It is interesting to note that the evidence of a shift in intercept is very strong even for the United States, which did not adopt explicit inflation targeting or join a currency union during the 1990s. For France, Germany, and the Netherlands, the null hypothesis cannot be rejected for any measure of inflation, while for Japan and Switzerland the null hypothesis is rejected for a single inflation measure, core CPI.

The evidence from the Bayesian model comparison also reveals substantial evidence of structural breaks. The Bayes factor is greater than one, indicating that the model with a structural break is deemed more probable than that without a structural break, for at least three

of four inflation series in ten of the twelve countries, the exceptions being France and Germany. The Bayes factor is greater than two, indicating that the model with a structural break is deemed at least twice as likely, for at least three of four inflation series in eight of the twelve countries, the exceptions being France, Germany, the Netherlands and Switzerland.

When did these structural breaks occur? Table 2 contains the least-squares estimate of the break date for those inflation series with p-values less than 0.05, while Table 3 shows the mean of the posterior distribution of the break date for those countries for which $BF \ge 1$. In most cases, both estimates of the break date fall in the late 1980s or early 1990s. The primary exception is Italy, for which the break date is somewhat later. The dates also appear to be estimated fairly precisely. This is demonstrated in Figure 3, which shows the posterior distribution of the unknown break date obtained from Bayesian estimation of equation (3), for each measure of inflation for which $BF \ge 1$. In most cases, the posterior density is highly concentrated in a narrow range of dates, suggesting the date of the structural break is clearly defined.

What is the nature of the structural breaks in intercept? They appear to correspond to a decline in the intercept, which, given constancy of the AR parameters, indicates a decline in the mean of inflation. This is shown in Table 4, which records the mean of inflation in the period after the structural break less the mean of inflation in the period before the structural break, where the structural break date is measured using the least-squares estimate given in Table 2. Thus, a negative entry in Table 4 indicates a decline in the mean of inflation following the structural break. These results indicate that every inflation series for which the classical hypothesis tests rejected the null hypothesis of no structural break exhibits a clear reduction in the mean of inflation following the structural break.

	GDP Price Inflation		CP Inflat	PI tion	Core Infla	CPI tion	PCE I Infla	PCE Price Inflation	
	p-value	Date	p-value	Date	p-value	Date	p-value	Date	
Australia	0.01	1989.2	0.00	1991.1	0.02	1991.1	0.00	1991.1	
Canada	0.41		0.02	1991.1	0.00	1991.3	0.00	1991.4	
France	0.39		0.46		0.24		0.21		
Germany	0.10		0.12		0.18		0.08		
Italy	0.02	1991.4	0.02	1995.3	0.02	1995.4	0.00	1996.1	
Japan	0.08		0.10		0.05	1992.3	0.35		
Netherlands	0.09		0.08		0.49		0.31		
N.Z.	0.00	1987.2	0.00	1989.4	0.00	1987.3	0.00	1986.4	
Sweden	0.00	1990.4	0.01	1993.2	0.01	1991.3	0.00	1992.1	
Switzerland	0.06		0.17		0.04	1993.2	0.10		
United Kingdom	0.02	1992.3	0.02	1991.1	0.01	1990.4	0.00	1991.3	
United States	0.03	1991.2	0.11		0.04	1991.2	0.02	1991.1	

Table 2: Testing for a Shift in Intercept at an Unknown Break Date

Notes: For each inflation series, this table reports the p-value of the Quandt (1960) test statistic for a structural break in the intercept of equation (3) at an unknown break date. Heteroscedasticity is allowed under the null hypothesis. The p-value is obtained using the fixed regressor bootstrap of Hansen (2000). When the p-value is less than or equal to 0.05, the table also indicates the least-squares estimate of the break date.

	GDP Price Inflation		C Infl:	PI ation	Core CP	Inflation	PCE Infla	Price Ition
	Bayes Factor	Median Date	Bayes Factor	Median Date	Bayes Factor	Median Date	Bayes Factor	Median Date
Australia	4.1	1989.3	9.8	1991.1	4.5	1991.2	4.8	1990.4
Canada	0.9		3.5	1990.4	48.1	1991.2	8116.9	1991.2
France	3.3	1993.2	0.4		0.6		0.5	
Germany	2.2	1995:2	0.6		0.4		0.6	
Italy	1.5	1991:3	6.5	1995.2	9.8	1995.2	238.7	1995.4
Japan	10.8	1992.1	10.5	1994.2	0.9		2.2	1992:2
Netherlands	2.2	1990:4	2.0	1988:1	0.4		1.1	1990:2
N.Z.	2.6	1989:4	28.2	1990.2	30.2	1990.2	8.5	1989.4
Sweden	60.0	1990.3	103.7	1993.1	1.4	1998:2	35.9	1993.1
Switzerland	2.8	1993.2	1.4	1993:1	1.0	2000:3	0.6	
United Kingdom	59.1	1992.2	9.1	1990.4	5.3	1991.4	18.9	1995.1
United States	24.0	1991.3	4.5	1991.1	1.1	1991:2	67.5	1991.3

Table 3: Bayesian Evidence for an Intercept Shift at an Unknown Break Date

Notes: For each inflation series, this table indicates the value of *BF*, the Bayes factor comparing the model allowing for a single structural break in both intercept and innovation variance to the model with a single break in innovation variance only. Thus, positive values of *BF* favor the model with a break in intercept and innovation variance. In those cases where $BF \ge 1$, the median of the posterior distribution of the unknown break date is also reported.





Figure 3: Bayesian Posterior Distribution of Unknown Break Date (GDP Price Inflation)



Figure 3: Bayesian Posterior Distribution of Unknown Break Date (contd.) (CPI)

ECB Working Paper Series No. 334 April 2004



Figure 3: Bayesian Posterior Distribution of Unknown Break Date (contd.) (Core CPI)



Figure 3: Bayesian Posterior Distribution of Unknown Break Date (contd.) (PCE Price Inflation)

Working Paper Series No. 334 April 2004

	GDP Price Inflation	CPI Inflation	Core CPI Inflation	PCE Price Inflation
Australia	-4.98	-5.05	-5.50	-5.00
Canada		-2.37	-2.64	-2.28
France				
Germany				
Italy	-4.36	-3.44	-3.70	-3.73
Japan			-2.10	
Netherlands				
N.Z.	-10.53	-7.76	-9.99	-10.69
Sweden	-5.19	-4.61	-4.75	-4.46
Switzerland			-2.90	
United Kingdom	-3.19	-3.07	-3.31	-3.47
United States	-1.46		-1.91	-1.76

Table 4: Change in Mean Inflation After Structural Break in Intercept (percentage points)

Notes: For each inflation series, this table indicates the difference between the mean of inflation over the period after the structural break and the mean of inflation during the period before the structural break. The break date is the least-squares estimate reported in Table 2. "NA" indicates an inflation series for which the test procedure detailed in Table 2 failed to reject the null hypothesis of no structural break at the 95 percent confidence level.

5. Reconsidering the Degree of Persistence

Having found evidence of a structural break in the mean for a number of inflation series, we now proceed to reconsider the degree of persistence exhibited by these series.

5.1 Classical Estimates

We start by taking a classical perspective, treating the break date *s* as known and fixed at the date associated with its least-squares estimate (as indicated in Table 2), and using the Hansen (1999) procedure described in Section 2 to calculate confidence intervals for ρ in equation (3). The lag order *K* (reported in Appendix Table A3) is chosen using the AIC, with the largest value of *K* considered equal to 4.

For each inflation series for which the structural break test reported in Table 2 rejected the null hypothesis of no structural change at the 5% level, Table 5 reports the percentiles of the bootstrap distribution for ρ , conditional on the structural break in intercept; for all other series, Table 5 repeats the estimates given in Table 1 for the model with no break. Figure 4 presents this same information graphically.

In general, the estimates of inflation persistence in Table 5 are much lower than those documented in Table 1. This is particularly true for the same seven countries for which evidence of a structural break was detected, namely Australia, Canada, Italy, New Zealand, Sweden, the United Kingdom and the United States. For these countries, the point estimate of ρ is below 0.7 and the unit root null is rejected for nearly all the inflation series considered. In fact, rather than exhibiting high inflation persistence, Table 5 reveals that a number of inflation series for these seven countries have point estimates of ρ less than 0.5, indicating that the typical inflation fluctuation only lasts for one or two quarters.

	GDP Price Inflation		Ι	CPI Inflation		Core CPI Inflation		PCE Price Inflation				
	5	50	95	5	50	95	5	50	95	5	50	95
Australia	0.28	0.54	0.78	0.03	0.33	0.60	-0.02	0.30	0.65	-0.01	0.26	0.54
Canada	0.31	0.67	1.07	-0.55	-0.04	0.41	0.25	0.43	0.61	-0.42	-0.19	0.05
France	0.65	0.78	0.94	0.66	0.77	0.88	0.85	0.91	0.99	0.68	0.79	0.90
Germany	0.52	0.74	0.96	0.65	0.87	1.06	0.70	0.87	1.05	0.45	0.76	1.07
Italy	0.12	0.45	0.74	0.64	0.75	0.85	0.65	0.75	0.83	0.42	0.53	0.63
Japan	0.79	1.00	1.10	0.55	0.78	1.04	0.50	0.68	0.84	0.80	0.96	1.07
Netherlands	0.06	1.05	1.19	0.56	0.83	1.06	0.62	0.79	0.96	0.00	0.39	0.75
New Zealand	-0.22	0.00	0.24	0.22	0.50	0.79	0.39	0.56	0.77	0.46	0.59	0.72
Sweden	-0.40	-0.24	-0.05	0.11	0.43	0.72	0.52	0.67	0.82	0.02	0.24	0.50
Switzerland	0.82	0.93	1.04	0.75	0.93	1.06	0.61	0.77	0.91	0.88	0.95	1.02
United Kingdom	-0.29	-0.03	0.23	0.31	0.55	0.76	0.31	0.52	0.74	0.44	0.61	0.77
United States	0.24	0.36	0.50	0.38	0.65	0.91	0.63	0.80	0.99	0.22	0.41	0.59

Table 5: Estimated Persistence, Conditional on Break in Intercept

Notes: Values shown are the 5th, 50th and 95th percentiles for ρ from the Hansen (1999) grid bootstrap procedure applied to either the AR model in equation (2) or equation (3), with the appropriate equation determined by the results of the structural break test reported in Table 2 (at the 95 confidence level). The lag order is given in Appendix Table A3. The grid search was conducted over a range of four standard deviations above and below the least-squares estimate in increments of 0.01. One thousand bootstrap simulations were performed for each value on the grid.



Notes: The high and low values on the bars and the circle on each bar are the 5th, 95th and 50th percentiles for ρ from the Hansen (1999) grid bootstrap procedure applied to either the AR model in equation (2) or equation (3), with the appropriate equation determined by the results of the structural break test reported in Table 2. The lag order is given in Appendix Table A3. The grid search was conducted over a range of six standard deviations above and below the least-squares estimate in increments of 0.01. 1000 bootstrap simulations were performed for each value on the grid. For each country, the bars represent the results for the inflation series in the following order: GDP price inflation, CPI inflation, core CPI inflation, and PCE price inflation.

U.S. inflation persistence, which has received substantial attention in the existing literature, is estimated to be fairly low. The median unbiased estimate is about 0.8 for core CPI inflation, 0.65 for total CPI inflation, and below 0.5 for GDP and PCE deflator inflation. Furthermore, the unit root hypothesis can be decisively rejected for total CPI, GDP deflator and PCE deflator inflation; in fact, the 95th percentile of the bootstrap distribution is below 0.6 for GDP and PCE deflator inflation.

The remaining countries in the sample, France, Germany, Japan, Netherlands, and Switzerland, display more uniform evidence of high inflation persistence (that is, the unit root null hypothesis cannot be rejected and the point estimates of ρ are relatively high in most cases). In several of these cases the high degree of persistence might be attributed to gradual changes in the inflation objective or the conduct of monetary policy. For example, French inflation declined gradually from about five percent in the mid-1980s to about one percent in the late 1990s, while Japanese inflation declined from about three percent in the early 1990s to levels below zero in recent years.

5.2 Bayesian Estimates

The Bayesian approach has distinct advantages over the classical estimates reported above, in that we can compute estimates of ρ that do not condition on the presence or absence of a break nor on a specific break date. In particular, for each inflation series, we compute the unconditional posterior distribution of ρ as the weighted average of the conditional posterior distributions of the break and no-break models, where each model's weight is given by its relative probability.¹⁵

¹⁵ For example, the model with a break has relative probability BF / (1+BF).

Table 6 reports the percentiles of the unconditional posterior distribution for ρ . In contrast to the relatively high "naïve" persistence estimates in Table 1, the estimates given here indicate that *low* inflation persistence is the norm for these countries. The 95th percentile of the distribution lies below unity for all but two series (core CPI inflation for Switzerland and the United States). And only two countries (Germany and Switzerland) have more than one inflation measure for which the 95th percentile exceeds 0.9.

In a number of instances, the Bayesian persistence estimates are lower than those obtained from classical estimation. The primary reason for this difference is that while the classical estimates are conditional on a particular assumption regarding the existence of a structural break, the Bayesian estimates are not. That is, the Bayesian estimates are not obtained from simple estimation of the autoregression without an intercept shift (equation 2), or the autoregression with an intercept shift (equation 3), but instead are a weighted average of the two. Consistent with Perron (1990), in many cases the persistence estimates obtained conditional on an intercept shift are substantially below those conditional on no shift. Thus, in many cases for which the classical hypothesis tests in Table 2 did not reject at the five percent level, but the Bayes factor in Table 3 is still relatively large, the Bayesian persistence estimate is lower.

As an example of this, consider the GDP deflator and total CPI series for the Netherlands. For these series, the classical estimates detailed in Section 5.1 were computed based on the autoregression with no structural break, as the hypothesis tests detailed in Table 2 were not significant at the 5% level (the p-values were 0.09 and 0.08). However, the Bayes factors for these two series were approximately two, suggesting that the model with a structural break is over twice as likely as that with no structural break. In addition, both of these series are cases in which allowing for an intercept shift drastically lowers the persistence estimate. Thus, the Bayesian estimate, which gives much weight to the model with an intercept shift, yields lower persistence estimates. A similar pattern is seen with certain inflation series for France, Japan, Germany and Switzerland.

	GDP Price Inflation		I	CPI Inflation		Core CPI Inflation		PCE Price Inflation				
	5	50	95	5	50	95	5	50	95	5	50	95
Australia	0.29	0.54	0.75	0.35	0.53	0.70	0.41	0.58	0.74	0.18	0.35	0.51
Canada	0.29	0.47	0.63	0.15	0.34	0.69	0.31	0.48	0.67	-0.27	-0.09	0.12
France	0.54	0.68	0.80	0.60	0.74	0.87	0.78	0.86	0.94	0.61	0.73	0.86
Germany	0.06	0.26	0.47	0.60	0.78	0.96	0.64	0.79	0.93	0.29	0.47	0.66
Italy	0.38	0.55	0.74	0.63	0.73	0.83	0.62	0.72	0.84	0.35	0.47	0.58
Japan	0.37	0.59	0.82	-0.15	0.04	0.27	0.63	0.81	0.95	0.51	0.72	0.89
Netherlands	0.07	0.28	0.49	0.38	0.55	0.70	0.61	0.77	0.93	-0.08	0.20	0.47
New Zealand	-0.03	0.16	0.36	0.43	0.57	0.72	0.46	0.61	0.76	0.43	0.60	0.79
Sweden	-0.24	-0.06	0.14	0.19	0.35	0.54	0.65	0.82	0.95	0.22	0.39	0.59
Switzerland	0.61	0.73	0.84	0.56	0.74	0.91	0.85	0.93	1.00	0.83	0.92	0.99
United Kingdom	-0.07	0.12	0.32	0.37	0.53	0.70	0.41	0.57	0.74	0.33	0.55	0.74
United States	0.21	0.37	0.55	0.21	0.39	0.55	0.75	0.89	1.01	0.22	0.39	0.56

 Table 6: Bayesian Estimates of Persistence

Notes: Values shown are the 5th, 50th and 95th percentile of the weighted posterior distribution of the persistence parameter ρ , obtained by weighting the posterior distributions for ρ from the models in equations (2) and (3). The weights were the relative probability of each model, and were computed from the Bayes factors reported in Table 3. The lag order was chosen to maximize the marginal likelihood.

6. Breaks in AR Parameters

Thus far, we have proceeded under the assumption that the persistence parameter and other AR coefficients of each inflation series have been stable over the 1984-2003 sample period. To ensure that our results are not sensitive to this assumption, we now analyze the evidence regarding structural breaks in the dynamic behavior of inflation.

For each inflation series for which a structural break in intercept was found to be statistically significant at the 95% confidence level (see Table 2), we perform a Chow test for the presence of a structural break in the persistence parameter at the same break date. As indicated in Table 7, a break in persistence is only evident in a single instance, namely, for the Swiss core CPI inflation rate.

Following a similar approach, Table 8 reports the results of a Chow test for the stability of all of the AR coefficients, where the parameters are allowed to break at the same date as the intercept. In this case, the p-value is less than 0.05 for five series: Japanese and Swiss core CPI inflation and three of the four New Zealand inflation series. For these series it appears that further investigation would be useful to identify the underlying reasons for the apparent shift in inflation dynamics.

Finally, Tables 9 and 10 give the Bayes factors comparing equations (4) and (5) to equation (3), and show only scattered evidence of structural breaks in the AR parameters. There are thirteen series for which the model with a break in the AR parameters is preferred to that with no break, so that $BF \ge 1$. This is true whether or not the break is located in only the persistence parameter (Table 9), or in all of the AR coefficients (Table 10). The evidence of changes in dynamics is strongest for Germany, New Zealand, and Switzerland, each of which has at least

two inflation series for which the model with a break is preferred. However, for most of the inflation series considered, the preferred model does not include breaks in the AR parameters.

	GDP Price Inflation	CPI Inflation	Core CPI Inflation	PCE Price Inflation
Australia	0.87	0.91	0.91	0.27
Canada		0.88	0.63	0.33
France				
Germany				
Italy	0.42	0.14	0.24	0.10
Japan			0.12	
Netherlands				
N.Z.	0.13	0.17	0.75	0.82
Sweden	0.44	0.14	0.97	0.46
Switzerland			0.00	
United Kingdom	0.81	0.38	0.96	0.68
United States	0.35		0.62	0.73

 Table 7: Testing the Stability of the Persistence Parameter

 (conditional on a structural break in intercept)

Notes: For each inflation series for which a structural break in intercept was identified at the 95% confidence level, this table reports the p-value for the Wald test of the null hypothesis that the persistence parameter ρ does not exhibit a structural break at the least-squares estimate of the break date for the intercept. The test statistic is constructed using White (1980) heteroscedasticity-consistent standard errors, with the break in intercept allowed under both the null and alternative hypotheses. An entry of "---" indicates that the series did not exhibit a statistically significant break in the intercept.

	GDP Price Inflation	CPI Inflation	Core CPI Inflation	PCE Price Inflation
Australia	0.11	0.98	0.73	0.05
Canada		0.19	0.88	0.69
France				
Germany				
Italy	0.57	0.39	0.11	0.53
Japan			0.02	
Netherlands				
N.Z.	0.43	0.01	0.00	0.00
Sweden	0.82	0.38	0.55	0.31
Switzerland			0.00	
United Kingdom	0.08	0.69	0.67	0.69
United States	0.58		0.77	0.99

Table 8: Testing the Stability of All AR Parameters(conditional on a structural break in intercept)

Notes: For each inflation series for which a structural break in intercept was identified at the 95% confidence level, this table reports the p-value for the Wald test of the null hypothesis that the entire set of AR coefficients (including the persistence parameter) do not exhibit a structural break at the least-squares estimate of the break date for the intercept. The test statistic is constructed using White (1980) heteroscedasticity-consistent standard errors, with the break in intercept allowed under both the null and alternative hypotheses. An entry of "---" indicates that the series did not exhibit a statistically significant break in the intercept.

	GDP Price Inflation	CPI Inflation	Core CPI Inflation	PCE Price Inflation
Australia	0.92	0.13	0.14	1.35
Canada	0.18	0.26	0.17	0.12
France	0.12	1.92	0.11	0.30
Germany	0.20	28.22	1.07	2.05
Italy	0.20	0.17	0.16	0.30
Japan	0.15	0.54	1.27	0.17
Netherlands	1.93	0.15	0.15	0.29
N.Z.	2.03	0.76	1.54	16.95
Sweden	5.58	0.79	0.13	0.28
Switzerland	0.16	3.32	80.64	0.43
United Kingdom	0.26	0.28	0.18	0.14
United States	0.17	0.16	0.23	0.14

 Table 9: Bayesian Evidence for Stability of the Persistence Parameter

Notes: For each inflation series, this table indicates the value of *BF*, the Bayes factor comparing the model with a single break in the persistence parameter as well as the intercept and innovation variance to the model allowing a single break in intercept and innovation variance. Thus, positive values of *BF* favor the model with a break in the persistence parameter.

	GDP Price Inflation	CPI Inflation	Core CPI Inflation	PCE Price Inflation
Australia	0.90	0.13	0.14	1.35
Canada	0.17	0.36	0.17	0.12
France	0.07	1.75	0.11	0.25
Germany	0.20	27.94	1.06	2.03
Italy	0.19	0.16	0.17	0.30
Japan	0.02	0.50	1.15	0.01
Netherlands	1.93	0.14	0.06	0.28
N.Z.	2.03	0.78	1.52	17.29
Sweden	5.31	0.79	0.07	0.28
Switzerland	0.05	3.32	83.10	0.07
United Kingdom	0.19	0.28	0.18	0.05
United States	0.17	0.16	0.05	0.14

Table 10: Bayesian Evidence for Stability of All AR Coefficients

Notes: For each inflation series, this table indicates the value of *BF*, the Bayes factor comparing the model with a single break in all of the parameters (that is, the entire set of AR coefficients as well as the intercept and innovation variance) to the model that allows for a single break in the intercept and innovation variance. Thus, positive values of *BF* favor the model with a break in all of the AR parameters.



7. Conclusion

In this paper, we have applied classical and Bayesian econometric methods to estimate univariate AR models of inflation for twelve industrial countries over the period 1984-2003, using four different price indices for each country. For many of the countries in our sample, we find strong evidence for a structural break in the intercept of the AR equation, while finding little evidence of a break in any of the AR coefficients.

Allowing for a possible break in mean, many of the inflation series exhibit very little persistence. For nearly all of the inflation series for seven countries, we find that the medianunbiased estimate of the sum of the AR coefficients is less than 0.7 and that the unit root null hypothesis can be rejected at the 95 percent confidence level. The Bayesian estimates (which do not condition on the existence or timing of a structural break) produce even lower estimates of inflation persistence. The upper bound of the posterior distribution of the persistence parameter has more than 95 percent of its mass below unity for all but two of the 48 inflation series. These results indicate that high inflation persistence is *not* an inherent characteristic of industrial economies.

In future work, we intend to use these techniques in a multivariate setting, enabling us to analyze the extent to which shifts in monetary policy regime (e.g., the adoption of inflation targeting) has influenced the dynamic behavior of output as well as inflation. It will also be interesting to apply these techniques to structural models of wage and price setting, thereby helping to disentangle the extent to which estimates of high inflation persistence has been confounded by occasional shifts in the monetary policy regime.

References

Akaike, H., 1973. Information Theory and an Extension of the Maximum Likelihood Principle. In Petrov, B., Csaki, F., eds., *Second International Symposium on Information Theory*. Budapest: Akademia Kiado, 267-281.

Andrews, D., 1993. Tests for Parameter Instability and Structural Change with Unknown Change Point. *Econometrica* 61, 821-856.

Andrews, D., and W.K. Chen, 1994, Approximately Median-Unbiased Estimation of Autoregressive Models. *Journal of Business and Economic Statistics* 12, 187-204.

Bai, J., 1994. Least Squares Estimation of a Shift in Linear Processes. *Journal of Time Series Analysis* 15, 453-72.

Bai, J., 1997. Estimation of a Change Point in Multiple Regression Models. *The Review of Economics and Statistics* 79, 551-563.

Ball, L., 2000. Near-Rationality and Inflation in Two Monetary Regimes. National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper 7988.

Barsky, R.B., 1987. The Fisher Hypothesis and the Forecastibility and Persistence of Inflation. *Journal of Monetary Economics* 19, 3-24.

Batini, N., 2002. Euro Area Inflation Persistence. Manuscript. Bank of England.

Benati, L., 2002. Investigating Inflation Persistence Across Monetary Regimes. Manuscript, Bank of England.

Bernanke, B., Laubach, T., Mishkin, F., Posen, A., 1999. Inflation Targeting: Lessons from the International Experience. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

Bordo, M., Schwartz, A., 1999. Under What Circumstances, Past and Present, Have International Rescues of Countries in Financial Distress Been Successful? *Journal of International Money and Finance* 18, 683-708.

Brainard, W., Perry, G., 2000. Making Policy in a Changing World. In Perry, G., Tobin, J., eds., *Economic Events, Ideas, and Policies: The 1960s and After*. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution.

Buiter, W., Jewett, I., 1989. Staggered Wage Setting and Relative Wage Rigidities: Variations on a Theme of Taylor. Reprinted in: Willem Buiter (ed.), *Macroeconomic Theory and Stabilization Policy*. University of Michigan Press, Ann Arbor, 183-199.

Calvo, G., Celasun, O., Kumhof, M., 2001. A Theory of Rational Inflationary Inertia. Manuscript, University of Maryland.



Chib, S., 1995. Marginal Likelihood from the Gibbs Output. *Journal of the American Statistical Association* 90, 1313-1321.

Chib, S., 1998. Estimation and Comparison of Multiple Change-Point Models. *Journal of Econometrics* 86, 221-241.

Chow, G., 1960. Tests of Equality Between Sets of Coefficients in Two Linear Regressions. *Econometrica* 28, 591-605.

Christiano, L., Eichenbaum, M., Evans, C., 2001. Nominal Rigidities and the Dynamic Effects of a Shock to Monetary Policy. National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper 8403.

Clarida, R., Gali, J., Gertler, M., 1999. The Science of Monetary Policy: A New Keynesian Perspective. *Journal of Economic Literature* 37, 1661-1707.

Clarida, R., Gali, J., Gertler, M., 2000. Monetary Policy Rules and Macroeconomic Stability: Evidence and Some Theory. *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 115, 147-180.

Clark, T., 2003. Disaggregate Evidence on the Persistence of Consumer Price Inflation. Manuscript, Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City.

Cogley, T., Sargent, T., 2001. Evolving Post-World War II U.S. Inflation Dynamics. *NBER Macroeconomics Annual 2001*, 331-372.

Cogley, T. Sargent, T., 2003. Drifts and Volatilities: Monetary Policies and Outcomes in the Post WWII U.S. Manuscript, University of California, Davis.

Diebold, F.X., Chen, C., 1996. Testing Structural Stability with Endogenous Breakpoint: A Size Comparison of Analytic and Bootstrap Procedures. *Journal of Econometrics* 70, 221-241.

Dittmar, R., Gavin, W., Kydland, F., 2001, Inflation Persistence and Flexible Prices. Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis Working Paper.

Erceg, C., Levin, A., 2002. Imperfect Credibility and Inflation Persistence. Forthcoming, *Journal of Monetary Economics*.

Evans, M., Wachtel, P., 1993. Inflation Regimes and the Sources of Inflation Uncertainty. *Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking* 25, 475-511.

Franses, P.H. and N. Haldrup, 1994. The Effects of Additive Outliers on Tests for Unit Roots and Cointegration. *Journal of Business and Economic Statistics*, 12, 471-478.

Fuhrer, J., 2000. Habit Formation in Consumption and its Implications for Monetary Policy Models. *American Economic Review* 90, 367-390.

Fuhrer, J., Moore, G., 1995. Inflation Persistence. *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 110, 127-159.

Goodfriend, M., King, R., 2001. The Case for Price Stability. National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper 8423.

Hansen, B.E., 1999. The Grid Bootstrap and the Autoregressive Model. *The Review of Economics and Statistics* 81, 594-607.

Hansen, B.E., 2000. Testing for Structural Change in Conditional Models. *Journal of Econometrics* 97, 93-115.

Ireland, P., 2000. Expectations, Credibility, and Time-Consistent Monetary Policy. *Macroeconomic Dynamics* 4, 448-466.

Ireland, P., 2003. A Method for Taking Models to the Data. Manuscript, Boston College.

Jeffreys, H., 1961. Theory of Probability, 3d ed. Oxford: Clarendon Press.

Johnson, D.R., 2002. The Effect of Inflation Targeting on the Behavior of Expected Inflation: Evidence from an 11 Country Panel. *Journal of Monetary Economics* 49, 1493-1519.

Kim, C., Nelson, C., 1998. *State-Space Models with Regime Switching: Classical and Gibbs-Sampling Approaches with Applications*. Cambridge: MIT Press.

Kim, C., Nelson, C., 1999. Has the U.S. Economy Become More Stable? A Bayesian Approach Based on a Markov-Switching Model of the Business Cycle. *Review of Economics and Statistics* 81, 608-616.

Kim, C., Nelson, C., Piger, J., 2001. The Less-Volatile U.S. Economy: A Bayesian Investigation of Timing, Breadth, and Potential Explanations. Forthcoming, *Journal of Business and Economic Statistics*.

Levin, A., Piger, J., 2003. Time-Variation in U.S. Inflation Persistence. Manuscript, Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis.

Mankiw, N.G., Reis, R., 2001. Sticky Information Versus Sticky Prices: A Proposal to Replace the New Keynesian Phillips Curve. NBER Working Paper 8290.

Mishkin, F., Schmidt-Hebbel, K., 2002. One Decade of Inflation Targeting in the World: What Do We Know and What Do We Need to Know? In Loayza, N., Soto, R., eds., *A Decade of Inflation Targeting in the World*. Central Bank of Chile, 117-219.

Nelson, C., Plosser, C., 1982. Trends and Random Walks in Macroeconomic Time Series: Some Evidence and Implications. *Journal of Monetary Economics* 10, 129-162.



Nelson, E., 1998. Sluggish Inflation and Optimising Models of the Business Cycle. *Journal of Monetary Economics* 42, 303-322.

Perron, P., 1990. Testing for a Unit Root in a Time Series with a Changing Mean. *Journal of Business and Economic Statistics* 8, 153-162.

Pivetta, F., Reis, R., 2001. The Persistence of Inflation in the United States. Manuscript, Harvard University.

Quandt, R., 1960. Tests of the Hypothesis that a Linear Regression Obeys Two Separate Regimes. *Journal of the American Statistical Association* 55, 324-330. Rapach, D.E. and M.E. Wohar, 2002. Regime Changes in International Real Interest Rates: Are They a Monetary Phenomenon? Manuscript, University of Nebraska at Omaha.

Ravenna, F., 2000. The Impact of Inflation Targeting in Canada: A Structural Analysis. Manuscript, New York University.

Roberts, J., 1998. Inflation Expectations and the Transmission of Monetary Policy. Finance and Economics Discussion Paper no. 98-43. Washington, D.C.: Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.

Romer, C., Romer, D., 2002. A Rehabilitation of Monetary Policy in the 1950s. National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper 8800.

Rotemberg, J.J., Woodford, M., 1997. An Optimization-Based Econometric Model for the Evaluation of Monetary Policy. *NBER Macroeconomics Annual 1997*, 297-346.

Sargent, T., 1999. The Conquest of American Inflation. Princeton University Press.

Schwarz, G., 1978. Estimating the Dimension of a Model. Annals of Statistics 6, 461-464.

Sims, C., 2001. Implications of Rational Inattention. Manuscript, Princeton University.

Steinsson, J., 2003, Optimal Monetary Policy in an Economy with Inflation Persistence. *Journal of Monetary Economics* 50, 1425-1456.

Stock, J., 1991. Confidence Intervals for the Largest Autoregressive Root in U.S. Macroeconomic Time Series. *Journal of Monetary Economics* 28, 435-459.

Stock, J., 2001. Comment on Evolving Post-World War II U.S. Inflation Dynamics. *NBER Macroeconomics Annual 2001*, 379-387.

Taylor, J., 2000. Low Inflation, Pass-Through, and the Pricing Power of Firms. *European Economic Review* 44, 1389-1408.

White, H., 1980. A Heteroscedasticity-Consistent Covariance Matrix Estimator and a Direct Test for Heteroscedasticity. *Econometrica* 48, 817-838.

Woodford, M., 2001. Imperfect Common Knowledge and the Effects of Monetary Policy. National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper 8673.



	GDP Price Inflation	CPI Inflation	Core CPI Inflation	PCE Price Inflation
Australia	1984:1-2003:1	1984:1-2003:2	1984:1-2001:2	1984:1-2003:1
Canada	1984:1-2003:1	1984:1-2003:2	1984:1-2003:2	1984:1-2003:1
France	1984:1-2003:1	1984:1-2003:2	1984:1-2003:2	1984:1-2003:1
Germany	1984:1-2003:1	1984:1-2003:2	1984:1-2003:2	1984:1-2003:1
Italy	1984:1-2003:1	1984:1-2003:2	1984:1-2003:2	1984:1-2003:1
Japan	1984:1-2003:1	1984:1-2003:2	1984:1-2003:2	1984:1-2003:1
Netherlands	1984:1-2003:1	1984:1-2003:2	1984:1-2003:2	1984:1-2003:1
New Zealand	1984:1-2003:1	1984:1-2003:2	1984:1-2003:2	1984:1-2003:1
Sweden	1984:1–2003:1	1984:1-2003:2	1984:1–2003:2	1984:1–2003:1
Switzerland	1984:1–2003:1	1984:1-2003:2	1984:1–2003:2	1984:1–2003:1
United Kingdom	1984:1–2003:1	1984:1-2003:2	1984:1-2003:2	1984:1-2003:1
United States	1984:1-2003:2	1984:1-2003:2	1984:1-2003:2	1984:1-2003:2

Appendix Table A1: Sample Periods

Appendix Table A2: Dummy Variable Dates

	Date Event			
Australia	2000:3	GST Introduction		
Canada	1991:1	Cigarette Tax Change		
	1994:1 - 1994:2	Cigarette Tax Change		
Germany	1991:1-1991:4	Reunification		
	1993:1	VAT Introduction		
Japan	1997:2	Consumption Tax Increase		
New Zealand	1986:4	GST Introduction		
Sweden	1990:1	VAT Increase		
	1991:1	VAT Increase		
United Kingdom	1990:2	Poll Tax Introduction		

	GDP Price Inflation		CPI Inflation		Core CPI Inflation		PCE Price Inflation	
	No S.B.	S.B.	No S.B.	S.B.	No S.B.	S.B.	No S.B.	S.B.
Australia	4	4	2	1	3	4	3	4
Canada	3	4	3	4	3	1	4	1
France	3	3	3	3	4	3	4	4
Germany	3	4	3	3	2	2	3	3
Italy	4	4	1	1	3	3	4	4
Japan	3	3	3	3	3	3	4	4
Netherlands	4	1	2	2	2	2	4	4
New Zealand	2	1	4	4	2	1	2	1
Sweden	4	1	3	4	2	2	3	1
Switzerland	3	3	3	4	3	3	4	4
U.K.	3	1	1	1	1	1	4	4
U.S.	4	1	4	4	2	2	3	1

Appendix Table A3: AIC Lag Order Selection

Notes: The heading "No S.B." indicates that no structural breaks were included in the model specification; that is, AR lag order selection was performed using the entire sample. These are the lag orders used for construction of Tables 1 and 2. The heading "S.B." refers to the lag order chosen using a model that allowed for structural change at the least squares estimate of the break date listed in Table 2. This is the lag order used for the entries in Table 7 that were conditioned on a structural break.



	GDP Price Inflation		CPI Inflation		Core CPI Inflation		PCE Price Inflation	
	p-value	Date	p-value	Date	p-value	Date	p-value	Date
Australia	0.61		0.02	1991.1	0.05	1991.1	0.00	1991.1
Canada	0.46		0.00	1991.1	0.00	1991.3	0.00	1991.4
France	0.23		0.38		0.17		0.34	
Germany	0.09		0.12		0.24		0.11	
Italy	0.04	1991.4	0.06		0.03	1995.4	0.00	1996.1
Japan	0.09		0.05	1993.4	0.01	1992.3	0.94	
Netherlands	0.10		0.13		0.54		0.35	
N.Z.	0.01	1987.2	0.01	1989.4	0.00	1987.3	0.02	1986.4
Sweden	0.00	1990.4	0.00	1993.2	0.00	1991.3	0.00	1992.1
Switzerland	0.09		0.18		0.06		0.97	
United Kingdom	0.01	1992.3	0.04	1991.1	0.02	1990.4	0.00	1991.3
United States	0.05	1991.2	0.14		0.02	1991.2	0.01	1991.1

Appendix Table A4: An Alternative Test for an Intercept Shift at an Unknown Break Date

Notes: For each inflation series, this table reports the p-value of the Quandt (1960) test statistic for a structural break in the intercept of equation (3) at an unknown break date. Heteroscedasticity is allowed under the null hypothesis. The p-value is obtained using the bootstrap procedure in Diebold and Chen (1996). When the p-value is less than or equal to 0.05, the table also indicates the least-squares estimate of the break date.

European Central Bank working paper series

For a complete list of Working Papers published by the ECB, please visit the ECB's website (http://www.ecb.int).

- 202 "Aggregate loans to the euro area private sector" by A. Calza, M. Manrique and J. Sousa, January 2003.
- 203 "Myopic loss aversion, disappointment aversion and the equity premium puzzle" by D. Fielding and L. Stracca, January 2003.
- 204 "Asymmetric dynamics in the correlations of global equity and bond returns" by L. Cappiello, R.F. Engle and K. Sheppard, January 2003.
- 205 "Real exchange rate in an inter-temporal n-country-model with incomplete markets" by B. Mercereau, January 2003.
- 206 "Empirical estimates of reaction functions for the euro area" by D. Gerdesmeier and B. Roffia, January 2003.
- 207 "A comprehensive model on the euro overnight rate" by F. R. Würtz, January 2003.
- 208 "Do demographic changes affect risk premiums? Evidence from international data" by A. Ang and A. Maddaloni, January 2003.
- 209 "A framework for collateral risk control determination" by D. Cossin, Z. Huang, D. Aunon-Nerin and F. González, January 2003.
- 210 "Anticipated Ramsey reforms and the uniform taxation principle: the role of international financial markets" by S. Schmitt-Grohé and M. Uribe, January 2003.
- 211 "Self-control and savings" by P. Michel and J.P. Vidal, January 2003.
- 212 "Modelling the implied probability of stock market movements" by E. Glatzer and M. Scheicher, January 2003.
- 213 "Aggregation and euro area Phillips curves" by S. Fabiani and J. Morgan, February 2003.
- 214 "On the selection of forecasting models" by A. Inoue and L. Kilian, February 2003.
- 215 "Budget institutions and fiscal performance in Central and Eastern European countries" by H. Gleich, February 2003.
- 216 "The admission of accession countries to an enlarged monetary union: a tentative assessment" by M. Ca'Zorzi and R. A. De Santis, February 2003.
- 217 "The role of product market regulations in the process of structural change" by J. Messina, March 2003.



- 218 "The zero-interest-rate bound and the role of the exchange rate for monetary policy in Japan" by G. Coenen and V. Wieland, March 2003.
- 219 "Extra-euro area manufacturing import prices and exchange rate pass-through" by B. Anderton, March 2003.
- 220 "The allocation of competencies in an international union: a positive analysis" by M. Ruta, April 2003.
- 221 "Estimating risk premia in money market rates" by A. Durré, S. Evjen and R. Pilegaard, April 2003.
- 222 "Inflation dynamics and subjective expectations in the United States" by K. Adam and M. Padula, April 2003.
- 223 "Optimal monetary policy with imperfect common knowledge" by K. Adam, April 2003.
- 224 "The rise of the yen vis-à-vis the ("synthetic") euro: is it supported by economic fundamentals?" by C. Osbat, R. Rüffer and B. Schnatz, April 2003.
- 225 "Productivity and the ("synthetic") euro-dollar exchange rate" by C. Osbat, F. Vijselaar and B. Schnatz, April 2003.
- 226 "The central banker as a risk manager: quantifying and forecasting inflation risks" by L. Kilian and S. Manganelli, April 2003.
- 227 "Monetary policy in a low pass-through environment" by T. Monacelli, April 2003.
- 228 "Monetary policy shocks a nonfundamental look at the data" by M. Klaeffing, May 2003.
- 229 "How does the ECB target inflation?" by P. Surico, May 2003.
- 230 "The euro area financial system: structure, integration and policy initiatives" by P. Hartmann, A. Maddaloni and S. Manganelli, May 2003.
- 231 "Price stability and monetary policy effectiveness when nominal interest rates are bounded at zero" by G. Coenen, A. Orphanides and V. Wieland, May 2003.
- 232 "Describing the Fed's conduct with Taylor rules: is interest rate smoothing important?" by E. Castelnuovo, May 2003.
- 233 "The natural real rate of interest in the euro area" by N. Giammarioli and N. Valla, May 2003.
- 234 "Unemployment, hysteresis and transition" by M. León-Ledesma and P. McAdam, May 2003.
- 235 "Volatility of interest rates in the euro area: evidence from high frequency data" by N. Cassola and C. Morana, June 2003.

- 236 "Swiss monetary targeting 1974-1996: the role of internal policy analysis" by G. Rich, June 2003.
- 237 "Growth expectations, capital flows and international risk sharing" by O. Castrén, M. Miller and R. Stiegert, June 2003.
- 238 "The impact of monetary union on trade prices" by R. Anderton, R. E. Baldwin and D. Taglioni, June 2003.
- 239 "Temporary shocks and unavoidable transitions to a high-unemployment regime" by W. J. Denhaan, June 2003.
- 240 "Monetary policy transmission in the euro area: any changes after EMU?" by I. Angeloni and M. Ehrmann, July 2003.
- 241 Maintaining price stability under free-floating: a fearless way out of the corner?" by C. Detken and V. Gaspar, July 2003.
- 242 "Public sector efficiency: an international comparison" by A. Afonso, L. Schuknecht and V. Tanzi, July 2003.
- 243 "Pass-through of external shocks to euro area inflation" by E. Hahn, July 2003.
- 244 "How does the ECB allot liquidity in its weekly main refinancing operations? A look at the empirical evidence" by S. Ejerskov, C. Martin Moss and L. Stracca, July 2003.
- 245 "Money and payments: a modern perspective" by C. Holthausen and C. Monnet, July 2003.
- 246 "Public finances and long-term growth in Europe evidence from a panel data analysis" by D. R. de Ávila Torrijos and R. Strauch, July 2003.
- 247 "Forecasting euro area inflation: does aggregating forecasts by HICP component improve forecast accuracy?" by K. Hubrich, August 2003.
- 248 "Exchange rates and fundamentals" by C. Engel and K. D. West, August 2003.
- 249 "Trade advantages and specialisation dynamics in acceding countries" by A. Zaghini, August 2003.
- 250 "Persistence, the transmission mechanism and robust monetary policy" by I. Angeloni, G. Coenen and F. Smets, August 2003.
- 251 "Consumption, habit persistence, imperfect information and the lifetime budget constraint" by A. Willman, August 2003.
- 252 "Interpolation and backdating with a large information set" by E. Angelini, J. Henry and M. Marcellino, August 2003.
- 253 "Bond market inflation expectations and longer-term trends in broad monetary growth and inflation in industrial countries, 1880-2001" by W. G. Dewald, September 2003.



- 254 "Forecasting real GDP: what role for narrow money?" by C. Brand, H.-E. Reimers and F. Seitz, September 2003.
- 255 "Is the demand for euro area M3 stable?" by A. Bruggeman, P. Donati and A. Warne, September 2003.
- 256 "Information acquisition and decision making in committees: a survey" by K. Gerling,H. P. Grüner, A. Kiel and E. Schulte, September 2003.
- 257 "Macroeconomic modelling of monetary policy" by M. Klaeffling, September 2003.
- 258 "Interest rate reaction functions and the Taylor rule in the euro area" by P. Gerlach-Kristen, September 2003.
- 259 "Implicit tax co-ordination under repeated policy interactions" by M. Catenaro and J.-P. Vidal, September 2003.
- 260 "Aggregation-theoretic monetary aggregation over the euro area, when countries are heterogeneous" by W. A. Barnett, September 2003.
- 261 "Why has broad money demand been more stable in the euro area than in other economies? A literature review" by A. Calza and J. Sousa, September 2003.
- 262 "Indeterminacy of rational expectations equilibria in sequential financial markets" by P. Donati, September 2003.
- 263 "Measuring contagion with a Bayesian, time-varying coefficient model" by M. Ciccarelli and A. Rebucci, September 2003.
- 264 "A monthly monetary model with banking intermediation for the euro area" by A. Bruggeman and M. Donnay, September 2003.
- 265 "New Keynesian Phillips Curves: a reassessment using euro area data" by P. McAdam and A. Willman, September 2003.
- 266 "Finance and growth in the EU: new evidence from the liberalisation and harmonisation of the banking industry" by D. Romero de Ávila, September 2003.
- 267 "Comparing economic dynamics in the EU and CEE accession countries" by R. Süppel, September 2003.
- 268 "The output composition puzzle: a difference in the monetary transmission mechanism in the euro area and the US" by I. Angeloni, A. K. Kashyap, B. Mojon and D. Terlizzese, September 2003.
- 269 "Zero lower bound: is it a problem with the euro area?" by G. Coenen, September 2003.
- 270 "Downward nominal wage rigidity and the long-run Phillips curve: simulation-based evidence for the euro area" by G. Coenen, September 2003.
- 271 "Indeterminacy and search theory" by N. Giammarioli, September 2003.

- 272 "Inflation targets and the liquidity trap" by M. Klaeffling and V. López Pérez, September 2003.
- 273 "Definition of price stability, range and point inflation targets: the anchoring of long-term inflation expectations" by E. Castelnuovo, S. Nicoletti-Altimari and D. Rodriguez-Palenzuela, September 2003.
- 274 "Interpreting implied risk neutral densities: the role of risk premia" by P. Hördahl and D. Vestin, September 2003.
- 275 "Identifying the monetary transmission mechanism using structural breaks" by A. Beyer and R. Farmer, September 2003.
- 276 "Short-term estimates of euro area real GDP by means of monthly data" by G. Rünstler and F. Sédillot, September 2003.
- 277 "On the indeterminacy of determinacy and indeterminacy" by A. Beyer and R. Farmer, September 2003.
- 278 "Relevant economic issues concerning the optimal rate of inflation" by D. R. Palenzuela, G. Camba-Méndez and J. Á. García, September 2003.
- 279 "Designing targeting rules for international monetary policy cooperation" by G. Benigno and P. Benigno, October 2003.
- 280 "Inflation, factor substitution and growth" by R. Klump, October 2003.
- 281 "Identifying fiscal shocks and policy regimes in OECD countries" by G. de Arcangelis and S. Lamartina, October 2003.
- 282 "Optimal dynamic risk sharing when enforcement is a decision variable" by T. V. Koeppl, October 2003.
- 283 "US, Japan and the euro area: comparing business-cycle features" by P. McAdam, November 2003.
- 284 "The credibility of the monetary policy 'free lunch" by J. Yetman, November 2003.
- 285 "Government deficits, wealth effects and the price level in an optimizing model" by B. Annicchiarico, November 2003.
- 286 "Country and sector-specific spillover effects in the euro area, the United States and Japan" by B. Kaltenhaeuser, November 2003.
- 287 "Consumer inflation expectations in Poland" by T. Łyziak, November 2003.
- 288 "Implementing optimal control cointegrated I(1) structural VAR models" by F. V. Monti, November 2003.
- 289 "Monetary and fiscal interactions in open economies" by G. Lombardo and A. Sutherland, November 2003.



- 290 "Inflation persistence and robust monetary policy design" by G. Coenen, November 2003.
- 291 "Measuring the time-inconsitency of US monetary policy" by P. Surico, November 2003.
- 292 "Bank mergers, competition and liquidity" by E. Carletti, P. Hartmann and G. Spagnolo, November 2003.
- 293 "Committees and special interests" by M. Felgenhauer and H. P. Grüner, November 2003.
- 294 "Does the yield spread predict recessions in the euro area?" by F. Moneta, December 2003.
- 295 "Optimal allotment policy in the eurosystem's main refinancing operations?" by C. Ewerhart, N. Cassola, S. Ejerskov and N. Valla, December 2003.
- 296 "Monetary policy analysis in a small open economy using bayesian cointegrated structural VARs?" by M. Villani and A. Warne, December 2003.
- 297 "Measurement of contagion in banks' equity prices" by R. Gropp and G. Moerman, December 2003.
- 298 "The lender of last resort: a 21st century approach" by X. Freixas, B. M. Parigi and J.-C. Rochet, December 2003.
- 299 "Import prices and pricing-to-market effects in the euro area" by T. Warmedinger, January 2004.
- 300 "Developing statistical indicators of the integration of the euro area banking system" by M. Manna, January 2004.
- 301 "Inflation and relative price asymmetry" by A. Rátfai, January 2004.
- 302 "Deposit insurance, moral hazard and market monitoring" by R. Gropp and J. Vesala, February 2004.
- 303 "Fiscal policy events and interest rate swap spreads: evidence from the EU" by A. Afonso and R. Strauch, February 2004.
- 304 "Equilibrium unemployment, job flows and inflation dynamics" by A. Trigari, February 2004.
- 305 "A structural common factor approach to core inflation estimation and forecasting" by C. Morana, February 2004.
- 306 "A markup model of inflation for the euro area" by C. Bowdler and E. S. Jansen, February 2004.
- 307 "Budgetary forecasts in Europe the track record of stability and convergence programmes" by R. Strauch, M. Hallerberg and J. von Hagen, February 2004.
- 308 "International risk-sharing and the transmission of productivity shocks" by G. Corsetti, L. Dedola and S. Leduc, February 2004.
- 309 "Monetary policy shocks in the euro area and global liquidity spillovers" by J. Sousa and A. Zaghini, February 2004.
- 310 "International equity flows and returns: A quantitative equilibrium approach" by R. Albuquerque,G. H. Bauer and M. Schneider, February 2004.
- 311 "Current account dynamics in OECD and EU acceding countries an intertemporal approach" by M. Bussière, M. Fratzscher and G. Müller, February 2004.

- 312 "Similarities and convergence in G-7 cycles" by F. Canova, M. Ciccarelli and E. Ortega, February 2004.
- 313 "The high-yield segment of the corporate bond market: a diffusion modelling approach for the United States, the United Kingdom and the euro area" by G. de Bondt and D. Marqués, February 2004.
- 314 "Exchange rate risks and asset prices in a small open economy" by A. Derviz, March 2004.
- 315 "Option-implied asymmetries in bond market expectations around monetary policy actions of the ECB" by S. Vähämaa, March 2004.
- 316 "Cooperation in international banking supervision" by C. Holthausen and T. Rønde, March 2004.
- 317 "Fiscal policy and inflation volatility" by P. C. Rother, March 2004.
- 318 "Gross job flows and institutions in Europe" by R. Gómez-Salvador, J. Messina and G. Vallanti, March 2004.
- 319 "Risk sharing through financial markets with endogenous enforcement of trades" by T. V. Köppl, March 2004.
- 320 "Institutions and service employment: a panel study for OECD countries" by J. Messina, March 2004.
- 321 "Frequency domain principal components estimation of fractionally cointegrated processes" by C. Morana, March 2004.
- 322 "Modelling inflation in the euro area" by E. S. Jansen, March 2004.
- 323 "On the indeterminacy of New-Keynesian economics" by A. Beyer and R. E. A. Farmer, March 2004.
- 324 "Fundamentals and joint currency crises" by P. Hartmann, S. Straetmans and C. G. de Vries, March 2004.
- 325 "What are the spill-overs from fiscal shocks in Europe? An empirical analysis" by M. Giuliodori and R. Beetsma, March 2004.
- 326 "The great depression and the Friedman-Schwartz hypothesis" by L. Christiano, R. Motto and M. Rostagno, March 2004.
- 327 "Diversification in euro area stock markets: country versus industry" by G. A. Moerman, April 2004.
- 328 "Non-fundamental exchange rate volatility and welfare" by R. Straub and I. Tchakarov, April 2004.
- 329 "On the determinants of euro area FDI to the United States: the knowledge-capital-Tobin's Q framework, by R. A. De Santis, R. Anderton and A. Hijzen, April 2004.
- 330 "The demand for euro area currencies: past, present and future" by B. Fischer, P. Köhler and F. Seitz, April 2004.
- 331 "How frequently do prices change? Evidence based on the micro data underlying the belgian CPI" byL. Aucremanne and E. Dhyne, April 2004.
- 332 "Stylised features of price setting behaviour in Portugal: 1992-2001" by M. Dias, D. Dias and P. D. Neves, April 2004.

- 333 "The pricing behaviour of Italian firms: New survey evidence on price stickiness" by S. Fabiani,A. Gattulli and R. Sabbatini, April 2004.
- 334 "Is inflation persistence intrinsic in industrial economies?" by A. T. Levin and J. M. Piger, April 2004.

